IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 28 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 76,172

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

GARY CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

Counsel for Appellant

SERVED LATE DAYS

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER,	}
Appellant,	\
vs.	CASE NO. 76,172
STATE OF FLORIDA	
Respondent.)
	}

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dwayne Irwin Parker appeals convictions of first degree murder in the death of William Nicholson, aggravated assault, attempted second degree murder, and twelve counts of armed robbery and his death sentence for the murder.

A. Pre-trial matters.

When the case came up for trial, the defense protested that the state had given notice of two witnesses (one out of state) two weeks before the April 30, 1990 trial date, and sought a continuance. R 360-61. Admitting tardiness, the state said one witness had been mentioned in some depositions and the other (the decedent's son) would only be used "to identify a pair of sandals." R 362. Without explaining its lateness, the state as much as conceded that it was purposeful: "there is no prejudice, Your Honor, there is no Brady, or we would have provided it earlier. We will give him every opportunity to depose these witnesses if he wants to." R 362-63 (e.s.). The court said: "All right. With that provision, the motion to delay is denied." R 363.

On April 25, 1990, the state had an <u>ex parte</u> hearing in which it obtained a court order for the arrest of a supposedly recalcitrant witness. Third sup. rec., 21-24.

Shortly before trial, the medical examiner recanted his deposition testimony, as discussed below regarding the trial

The transcript of a hearing on April 23, 1990, contained in the third supplemental record, shows that, two days after receiving notice of these witnesses, defense counsel was called away by the death of his father in Minnesota, and was away for approximately a week (he left on a Thursday and would not return until the middle of the next week). Third sup. rec. 13-18.

evidence. At a hearing, Mr. Parker addressed the court, saying that he had urged counsel to investigate the matter, and that defense counsel had not. R 385-89. Replying that these remarks were on the record, the court advised sending a letter "to whoever you think would help you out." When he repeated that counsel had done nothing, the court told him to write to his attorney. Id.

B. Jury selection.

Venirewoman Nehiley said anyone convicted of premeditated first degree murder should automatically be sentenced to death. R 585. Potential jurors Silverman, Weisberg, Linares, Herzog, Scheril, Bonvicin, Diggs, Koeffler, and Miller agreed. R 605-606. After denying cause challenges to the foregoing, R 608-609, the court addressed the venire on this matter:

All right. Now, earlier there was a question asked on voir dire as to whether or not you would automatically give somebody the death penalty, whether it was premeditated murder and whether or not it was felony murder. Some of you raised your hands about that and some of you didn't.

You remember how the trial will be conducted? First of all, it will be on the merits. That's where you determine whether or not the defendant is guilty or not guilty of the charges pending against him. After that, if you find the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree, there will be another phase of the trial, where you will perhaps receive evidence and be instructed on the law relating to mitigating and/or aggravating circumstances. And then, based on the evidence and the law, on those factors, you will return to the jury room, and then come back with a recommendation as to whether or not he should get the death penalty or life in prison without parole for 25 years.

Now, is there anybody on the jury panel who will not follow the law and base their recommendation on the evidence and the law in the

penalty phase of the trial, if we get that far?

All right. Let the record reflect that nobody said they would not follow the law.

R 621-23. The state questioned Mr. Miller whether he would automatically vote for death in a case of felony murder (he said he would not), R 630-31, and then addressed the jury panel:

Okay, fine. And that would hold true with everyone no matter how they feel about the death penalty, as Judge Moe articulately put, that you hear the facts and circumstances? And he is going to instruct you as to the law. And I think some of you raised your hands and said you would automatically vote for the death penalty if it was first degree murder. But before you do that, is everybody in agreement, as you agreed with Judge Moe, that you will wait and hear the evidence, and you will follow the law and all circumstances and facts before you make up your mind no matter that your verdict is? Does everybody agree with that? Everybody's shaking their head.

Thank you very much, Your Honor.

R 631-32. Answering defense questions, Mr. Miller said that, while he had "stipulated on premeditated," he would not automatically vote for death in felony murder cases. R 632. Ms. Gorman had like views: "I would say for a felony crime, possibly, it would vary on the evidence and the circumstances.... Premeditated, I feel they should if the evidence is there for it." R 633. In a premeditated murder case, Mr. Koeffler "would say yes" to death. Id. Ms. Herzog agreed death was appropriate in every first degree murder case "because life imprisonment, I don't believe that people stay in prison for life if they commit murder." Id. Mr. Boncivin also agreed that "the death penalty is appropriate in every first

degree murder case". R 634. Ms. Nehiley considered death proper in every case in which first degree murder was proven. R 634-35.

The trial court then addressed Ms. Herzog:

THE COURT: ... So, despite your feelings, Mrs. Herzog, will you follow the law and the evidence in this case and base your verdict and possibly any recommendation as to death or life on the evidence and law that I will tell you?

MS. HERZOG: I would try.

THE COURT: Well, trying's not good enough. Are you telling me you're not going to follow the law?

MS. HERZOG: No, sir, I would follow the law. I would listen to what you say, yes.

THE COURT: Is there any question about that?

MS. HERZOG: No.

THE COURT: Is there any question of any of you jurors as to whether or not you will follow the law and base your verdict and/or any recommendation as to the penalty on the law and the evidence in this case?

Will anybody not do that? All right. Let the record reflect they all said they would.

R 635-36. The defense unsuccessfully renewed its cause challenges. R $637-38.^2$

Ms. Anderson told the state she would automatically vote for death for first degree murder. R 673. She agreed "that every murder someone shouldn't receive the death penalty", and would

The court granted the state's cause challenge to another juror, Mr. Petiya, because he "said the magic words." R 638. (Asked by the state whether he could be fair and impartial, Mr. Petiya replied: "You said it, for this particular case, right, I don't think --". R 629-30.)

listen to the facts and circumstances before rendering a decision. R 674. She told the defense she thought death would be appropriate for first degree murder. R 708-09. The trial court denied a defense cause challenge. R 735-36. In response to later leading by the state, she said she would automatically vote for death as she interpreted the law, but would not vote for the death penalty for "every murder," her vote would depend on the facts and circumstances and law as instructed by the judge. R 748-49.

Ms. Geair, an FBI file clerk, R 647, said that, while many close friends were police officers and FBI agents, she "could try to be impartial and fair." R 647. The state questioned her:

MR. SATZ: ... Miss Geair, the fact that you work with the FBI, would that interfere with your ability to be fair and impartial?

MS. GEAIR: It might. I work on a criminal squad. I take care of their files.

MR. SATZ: When you answered this sheet, it said, could you be fair and impartial. You indicated that you could.

MS. GEAIR: I said I could try. I can try.

MR. SATZ: And will you try?

MS. GEAIR: I could, yeah.

R 682. She later said that the fact that the victim in one attempted murder count would <u>definitely affect her against the defendant</u>. R 715. The court denied a cause challenge to her. R 738-39.

It denied a cause challenge to Ms. Bogle, R 754, who did not think it completely fair that the burden of proof was entirely on the state: she felt the defense should do something. R 751-52.

It also denied defense cause challenges to other jurors.³
After exhausting its peremptory challenges,⁴ the defense moved for six additional peremptory challenges; the court granted two. R 825. After using those challenges on jurors Koeffler and Mindich,⁵ R 826, the defense unsuccessfully renewed cause challenges to Gorman, Anderson, Miller and Bogle. R 827. They sat on the jury.

In voir dire the court <u>sua sponte</u> said of the penalty verdict:

... The penalty for murder in the first degree, as you probably know by now, is either life in prison without parole for 25 years or death in the electric chair. If you find the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree, and after listening to any testimony or evidence on aggravating or mitigating circumstances, then you go back to the jury room, you take another vote, and you will make a recommendation to the Judge - that's me - as to whether or not you recommend death in the electric chair or life in prison. And that vote doesn't have to be unanimous, it can be nine to three, ten to two, six to six. Whatever recommendation you come up with is your recommendation. The final decision on the penalty is up to me, the Judge. I can override your recommendation or I can follow it. And by saying that, I don't in any way, shape or form mean to imply or infer that your recommendation isn't very, very, very important, because I will give it great, great weight. And I will never use the term it's just a recommendation. It's much more serious than that.

But, again, in a first degree murder trial, we have what's called a bifurcated system. Bifurcated indicates two, and for what it's worth, actually we have a trifurcated system, because we have guilt or innocence, recommen-

³ R 505-506, 527 (Reno), 824 (Mindich).

⁴ The defense struck many of the foregoing persons as well as other jurors to whom it had objection.

⁵ The defense had sought to strike both Koeffler and Mindich for cause. R 621-23, 824-25.

dation as to death or life, and then the final decision by me. That's three stages. You're only involved in two of them. You determine guilt or innocence. If you find him guilty of murder in the first degree, then you listen to testimony and evidence and make a recommendation to me as to whether or not you recommend death in the electric chair or life in prison.

If you understand all that, nod your heads. If you don't -- That's good. Like I say, I would never be condescending or patronizing to you, you're intelligent people, and I'm not going to try to talk down to you at all, but I have to get these basic principles across to you.

. . .

R 580-81. The defense unsuccessfully objected and moved that the court strike the panel. R 581-83.

The trial court refused to allow the exercise of peremptory challenges by the parties in turn. R 527.

- C. Evidence at trial.
- 1. The following was undisputed at trial:

Mr. Parker and Ladson Preston robbed the manager and patrons of a Pizza Hut at gun point, as alleged in the indictment. Mr. Parker shot into the floor, and two patrons suffered leg wounds from ricochets. Outside, he encountered Deputy Robert Killen. After shooting at the deputy, who returned fire, he ran into a street, where Keith Mallow was driving his car with his family.

⁶ The defense conceded guilt as to the robbery charges. R 1921 (final argument of defense counsel to jury).

The witnesses in the Pizza Hut said it was an automatic weapon, but the state's weapons expert testified that it was semiautomatic. State's witnesses Peter O'Rourke and Deborah Kaminski said the shots were fired into the floor. R 1022-1023, R 1144. State's witness Frances Dubroka got fragments in her foot. R 1129.

Mr. Parker fired one shot, trying to stop the car, which swerved into some parked cars. He ran off, with Deputy Killen pursuing on foot and at least two deputies giving chase in patrol cars. At this point Mr. Nicholson was shot. He died of a single shot to the abdomen. The jury heard no eyewitness to the shooting.

2. Tammy Duncan heard a gunshot while watching television at home. R 1183. Going outside, she saw Mr. Parker running with a gun in his hand. R 1184-85. The following occurred:

Well, I seen him [Mr. Parker] running. He got out of my view from the fence, by the house on 28th Court -- And I seen Mr. Nicholson running behind him. Mr. Nicholson got into my view, and the other guy was already out. I heard a shot.

Mr. Nicholson was in the middle of the street, almost in the middle. He might have been a little more to one side than the other. He was in the middle of the street, and I heard a shot. I heard -- I seen Mr. Nicholson grab his stomach and double over. He didn't fall instantly but he did end up falling. And that's when cops, police, came from everywhere and that's where everything happened.

R 1186. The officers arrived a minute or two after the shot; one of them got out of a car and picked up Mr. Nicholson. R 1188-89.

Deputy Kevin McNesby came upon Mr. Nicholson staggering in the intersection. R 1246-47. He stopped his car, and Mr. Nicholson collapsed on the trunk. R 1247. He saw no officers around. R 1247-48. He and his police dog helped arrest Mr. Parker. R 1250-

⁸ The bullet entered the car's roof.

The second and third counts of the indictment charged attempted first degree murder of Deputy Killen and Mr. Mallow respectively. R 2400. The jury found Mr. Parker guilty of aggravated assault as to Count II and of attempted second degree murder as to Count III. R 2726-27.

54. Nearby was a semi-automatic machine pistol. R 1254. On direct examination, Deputy McNesby denied shooting Mr. Nicholson. R 1260. On cross, the defense contended that Deputy McNesby had been involved in past acts of violence on civilians, and in covering up such acts, seeking to make the point that he had shot Mr. Nicholson or had been involved in covering up his being shot by another deputy. R 1266-76. On redirect, the state produced a "Grand Jury report" purporting to "deal with the matter that Mr. Hitchcock was asking you about". R 1277-78. The defense objected that it had not been provided the document in discovery, but the trial court let the state put it into evidence. R 1278.

Deputy Killen rounded a corner and saw Mr. Nicholson sitting bleeding in the road. Mr. Nicholson pointed in the direction in which Mr. Parker had fled, and the deputy continued the chase. R 1498-99. He and other officers found Mr. Parker lying near a house. R 1498.

Sgt. Edward Baker, in a squad car, saw two men running. R 1526. Turning a corner, he saw Deputy Killen running. Once around the corner, he saw Mr. Nicholson on the ground, and Mr. Parker "a little bit southwest" of him "running in a southwesterly mode, but he was facing northeast." R 1527. His arm was extended; he seemed to be looking at Baker or Nicholson. 1527-28. Mr. Parker was 10 or 15 feet from Mr. Nicholson, and Sgt. Baker did not see anything in Mr. Parker's hand. R 1529. He did not see any cars. R 1532.

3. The big issue at trial pertained to the fatal bullet's color. Broward deputies use silver-colored bullets. R 1266. The bullets supposedly used by Mr. Parker were yellow.

In his autopsy report, Dr. Michael Bell said of the bullet taken from the body: "A large caliber silver-colored bullet is recovered with very little deformation." R 1643. At trial, he said the contemporaneous report was wrong because he "didn't look at the bullet properly." R 1643-44. At his first deposition, he swore the bullet was a "silver colored bullet with no deformation," R 1644, and he did not think that he had nicked the bullet with a saw. R 1664-65. A handwritten report made before the deposition said it was silver with very little deformation. R 1661-62.

A telephone call from the prosecutor prompted a recantation:

And you [the prosecutor] called me up, and you said, Mike, why don't you project your slide of the bullet, and kind of hemmed and hawed and, Mike kept saying project the bullet, and so I did, and at that point, as we just saw, I realized that I had made a mistake, that I had incorrectly described it on my protocol, and continued to make the same mistake in that first deposition.

R 1645 (testimony of Dr. Bell).

Well, first I recognized that there was a cut in the bullet, and I went back, I - and Mike [Michael Satz, the prosecutor] was still on the phone. I said, you know, I see a cut in the bullet, and then he asked me, well, what color is the bullet, and again I went back to the photograph, and while for the most part, again, you know, I saw the white portion of the overexposed photo, but around the edge of it, it was gold, and again I realized, you know, it wasn't silver colored, it was actually gold. So, I went back, told Mike, and at that point then, I think a couple of weeks later we had the second deposition.

R 1646 (same).

At the autopsy, Det. Robert Cerat received the fatal bullet from Dr. Bell, photographed it, and put it in an envelope sealed with a single piece of tape. R 1560, 1566. He photographed the bullet while still in the bone, R 1561, and the photograph was introduced as State's Exhibit 115. R 1561-63. State's Exhibit 116 was a photograph of a yellow bullet, which Det. Cerat identified as the bullet put in the sealed envelope. R 1563-65. He explained the fact that Exhibit 115 showed a white bullet as the result of lighting in the autopsy room and the strobe light used to take the picture. R 1565. Det. Cerat did not note any stippling around the wound. R 1581.

Dr. Bell, on the other hand, did see stippling around the wound, R 1627, indicating the shot was fired from between two inches and two feet. R 1632.

Firearms expert Patrick Garland examined Exhibits 92 (the gun found near Mr. Parker) and 121 (the projectile Dr. Bell said was found in the body), and concluded that Exhibit 92 had fired Exhibit 121. R 1776. Mr. Nicholson's shirt had "a very few particles of partially burned gunpowder, but these were not in a pattern that I felt was sufficient to determine the distance that the gun was from the target at the time it was fired." R 1790. The shirt did not have the pattern of density of residue associated with a shooting from close range. Id.

In a sworn statement to police Mr. Parker admitted robbing Pizza Hut, firing at Deputy Killen, and shooting into the Mallow car. R 1331-37. He denied shooting Mr. Nicholson, R 1340, but agreed that the fatal bullet may have been a ricochet from the shot at the car. R 1340-41.

After an hour's search, crime scene officers found a shell casing of the sort used by Mr. Parker's gun about 20 feet from

blood where Mr. Nicholson was apparently shot. R 1449, 1450. The casing was not in photographs of the area taken shortly after the shooting, but was in pictures taken two hours later. R 1458-59.

Well into the trial, the state gave notice of a newly-retained expert in forensic pathology, Dr. Besant-Matthews. R 1426-28. After argument and proffer, id., 1552-53, 1610-12, 10 1710-54, the court ruled that it would not let him testify in the state's case-in-chief, but would let him testify "on rebuttal if there's any defense." R 1754. It did allow into evidence two photographic prints which the state had not provided in discovery, R 1749, and photographs of the bullet used during Mr. Garland's testimony, which also were not provided in discovery. R 1750-52, 1793-98.

C. Argument and instructions to jury; jury deliberations.

The court refused a defense request to instruct on jury unanimity as to felony murder or premeditated murder. R 1842-43, 2714. After much argument, it denied a defense objection, under Hoffert v. State, 559 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), to instruction on "sudden combat" as part of excusable homicide. R 1858-61.

The prosecutor argued to the jury:

Now, you know, Mr. Hitchcock says they. Who is they? Who's they? They want to do this and they want to do that. Now, in order to believe that theory or fantasy that Mr. Hitchcock told you about, about the Stans and this

¹⁰ At these pages, there was argument regarding the admission of a photographic prints which were "a whole different color rendition" from prints provided in discovery (unlike the discovery prints, the objected-to prints made the fatal bullet look yellow). The prints were to be used in Dr. Besant-Matthews' testimony. The trial court allowed them into evidence subject to further defense argument that they were not provided in discovery.

MR. HITCHCOCK [defense counsel]: I would like to reserve a motion, Your Honor, please.

R 1897. The following occurred at the end of the state's argument:

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