### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| DWAYNE IRWIN PARKER, |  |
|----------------------|--|
| Appellant,           |  |
| vs.                  |  |
| STATE OF FLORIDA,    |  |
| Appellee.            |  |
|                      |  |

CASE NO. 76,172

### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299 (407) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

# SID J. WHITE SEP **29 1993**

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State's Exhibits SSSSSS and LLLLLL for indentification were admitted into evidence as State's Exhibits 121 and 122, respectively. (T 1612).

the photo of the bullet lodged in the victim's sacrum. (T 1727-30).

Ultimately, the trial court excluded Dr. Besant-Matthews from testifying during the State's case-in-chief because of his late disclosure as a witness. (T 1743-44). At that point, the State indicated that it intended to use the photographs taken by Dr. Besant-Matthews during the testimony of Patrick Garland, a firearms examiner with the Broward County Sheriff's Office, who was present when the photographs were taken. (T 1744). Defense counsel maintained his objection to the photographs based on their untimely disclosure. (T 1746). Although the trial court noted that the photographs were not being offered into evidence at that point, it made the following findings:

> While finding that there has been a violation of the rules of discovery, if the State attempts to introduce those two photographs, I find that the mistake - the error was not on purpose, was inadvertent, and that there's really no procedural or substantive surprise because those two pictures are pictures of things that have already been admitted into evidence, that the defense has known about and knows about, and has been prepared for time. Based on that, the for a long objection to the photographs being admitted into evidence is overruled.

(T 1749). Pursuant to this ruling, defense counsel's objections to the photographs when they were offered into evidence were similarly overruled. (T 1793-98).

Regarding the photograph admitted during Detective Cerat's testimony, the State submits that there was no discovery violation, and thus no <u>Richardson</u> hearing was warranted. <u>See</u> <u>Bush v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 936, 938 (Fla. 1984) ("A <u>Richardson</u> inquiry is necessary only when there is a discovery violation and

an objection based on the alleged violation."). State's Exhibit LLLLLL for identification was merely an enlargement of an exhibit admitted without objection by defense counsel (State's Exhibit MMMMMM for identification). Thus, the content of the photograph was already known by Appellant; he could not have been surprised by its subject matter. Rather, defense counsel objected to the photograph because of its coloring, which, as the trial court properly decided, went to the photograph's weight rather than its admissibility.

In Bush, this Court held that "[w]hen testimonial discrepancies appear, the witness' trial and deposition testimony can be laid side-by-side for the jury to consider. This would serve to discredit the witness and should be favorable to the Therefore, unlike failure to name a witness, changed defense. testimony does not rise to the level of a discovery violation and will not support a motion for a Richardson inquiry." See also Whitfield v. State, 479 So.2d 208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Similarly, defense counsel here was able to put the enlargement showing the bullet to be copper next to the original photograph showing the bullet to be silver and alert the jury to the discrepancy, thereby discrediting the State's witness and evidence. As with testimonial discrepancies, coloring discrepancies in photographs do not rise to the level of a discovery violation; thus, no Richardson hearing was warranted.

As for the photographs introduced through Patrick Garland, the record clearly reveals that the trial court conducted a <u>Richardson</u> hearing. Although it found a discovery violation, it found that the State's untimely disclosure was inadvertent and

- 40 -

that there was no procedural surprise because the photos were of objects known by defense counsel that had already been admitted into evidence. In other words, Appellant was not prejudiced by the late disclosure. Consequently, the photos were properly admitted. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS REQUIRED TO CONDUCT AND <u>NELSON</u> INQUIRY AND, IF SO, FAILED TO DO SO (Restated).

Without any factual basis or citation to the record, Appellant complains that the trial court failed to conduct a complaints about trial inquiry when Appellant made Nelson Brief of Appellant at 27. The State presumes that counsel. Appellant is referring to his comments to the trial court on the first day of trial just prior to jury selection. After defense counsel moved unsuccessfully to dismiss the case due to the medical examiner's change in testimony regarding the color of the bullet removed from the victim's body (T 375-78), Appellant addressed the court and requested a special investigation into the case, particularly regarding the bullet and the sheriff department's and medical examiner's conspiracy to frame him for this murder. Appellant claimed that he had asked defense counsel to request an investigation, but he had not heard anything about The trial court tried to explain that it could it. (T 385-88). not order an independent investigation and that Appellant would have to contact someone else. (T 388).

At no time did Appellant allege that defense counsel was rendering ineffective representation. Nor did Appellant indicate that he wanted substitute counsel. Rather, Appellant wanted the trial court to do what neither he nor counsel was able to do: order an independent investigation into this case. Such a request, however, did not constitute "a seemingly substantial complaint about counsel" which would mandate a <u>Nelson</u> inquiry. <u>See Wilder</u>

- 42 -

v. State, 587 So.2d 543, 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (emphasis in original).

Even assuming for argument's sake, however, that the trial court did not conduct a sufficient <u>Nelson</u> inquiry, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As the First District has held:

> [T]he trial court's failure to make thorough inquiry and thereafter deny the motion for substitution of counsel is . . in and of itself a Sixth Amendment not violation. In determining whether an abuse of discretion warranting reversal has occurred, an appellate court must consider several factors, in addition to the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry regarding the defendant's complaint, including as well whether the motion was timely made, and if the conflict was so great as to result in a total lack of communication preventing an adequate defense.

> In the present case, the record reflects that defendant's motion to dismiss counsel was timely filed before trial. Although the to the grounds inquiry as trial court's stated for discharge was not extensive, the court acknowledged receipt of the motion and gave defendant an opportunity to argue the motion further. When the appellant did not respond, the motion was denied. The most important circumstance militating in favor of affirmance, however, is the fact that the appellant proceeded to trial with his courtcounsel, and made no additional appointed attempt to dismiss counsel or request self-Similarly, there is no representation. evidence in the record of any conflict or lack of communication during the trial between appellant and his attorney that would support a finding that the appellant did not receive Thus, based on the an adequate defense. record at bar, we conclude that the trial court's failure to conduct a more extensive inquiry regarding the merits of the motion to discharge did not violate the appellant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, and was at most harmless only.

Kott v. State, 518 So.2d 957, 958 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (emphasis in original; citations omitted).

Here, even if Appellant's comments could be construed as a motion for substitution of counsel, not only was it untimely, being made on the morning of trial, but his allegations did not present a conflict "so great as to result in a total lack of communication preventing an adequate defense." Id. Appellant proceeded to trial with Mr. Hitchcock, and at no time voiced any objection to counsel's performance. Moreover, there is no evidence in the record whatsoever that Appellant and Mr. Hitchcock had such a conflict or lack of communication that Mr. Hitchcock could not present an adequate defense. In fact, the record reveals that Mr. Hitchcock zealously challenged the State's evidence regarding the color of the bullet and the medical examiner's change of testimony regarding same. Ultimately, however, he could not overcome the overwhelming evidence of guilt, which included a positive identification of Appellant as the gunman in the Pizza Hut (T 966-67), an eyewitness who saw Appellant running down the street with the victim in pursuit moments before the victim fell to the pavement with a gunshot wound to the abdomen (T 1185 - 1206), and Appellant's apprehension with the proceeds from the robbery and the murder weapon near the scene of the shooting (T 1356-61, Consequently, Appellant's conviction should be 1501-09). affirmed since there is no reasonable possibility that the verdict would have been different even if the trial court had conducted a Nelson inquiry. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). See also Sweet v. State, 18 F.L.W. S447 (Fla.

- 44 -

Aug. 5, 1993) (finding inadequate Faretta hearing harmless where defendant accepted counsel and later professed satisfaction with him); Boynton v. State, 577 So.2d 692 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (finding inadequate Nelson inquiry harmless where (1) defendant "proceeded through a several-day trial with his court-appointed counsel without once complaining about or seeking to discharge counsel," (2) counsel mounted a vigorous and partially successful defense, "and, more importantly, (3) the defendant's statement to the court at trial that his court-appointed counsel was doing a 'good job' for the defendant and that 'I trust you [counsel] now.'"); Parker v. State, 570 So.2d 1053, 1055 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) ("In light the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the legal ofinsufficiency of the motion, the defendant's failure to pursue the motion although having the opportunity to do so, and a record which reveals no evidence of incompetence, we find that the failure to conduct an inquiry was harmless error."), rev. denied, 581 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1991).

## ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY DURING THE GUILT PHASE AND WHETHER A COMMENT DURING THE STATE'S CLOSING ARGUMENT DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL (Restated).

# A. Jury Instructions

Initially, Appellant complains that the trial court "should have sustained the defense objection to [the excusable homicide] instruction," because it "incorrectly communicated that a homicide committed with a firearm was never excusable." Brief of Appellant at 29. At the charge conference, the following discussion was had regarding this instruction:

> MR. HITCHCOCK: . . . On page five under excusable homicide, first place, we're not requesting the excusable or justifiable homicide anyway. I don't think it applies. But if you're going to read excusable homicide, the statement in here with regard to sudden combat, it just doesn't apply to the facts in this case.

THE COURT: What's the State's position?

MR. HITCHCOCK: Well, Your Honor, if you're going to instruct them on manslaughter, obviously part of the instructions on manslaughter is excusable and justifiable homicide.

THE COURT: I decline to delete that.

MR. HITCHCOCK: Okay. How about the or upon sudden combat?

THE COURT: I decline to delete that also.

MR. HITCHCOCK: You've noted our objection though, of course?

THE COURT: I note your objection.

(T 1858-59). As is obvious from the foregoing, Appellant did not articulate the same objection below that he makes here. Thus, he

has failed to preserve this issue for review. <u>See Tillman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Regardless, any error in giving the instruction was harmless because there were no facts to support either excusable or justifiable homicide. <u>Banda v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1988).

Next, Appellant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his proposed instruction relating to special verdicts for premeditated and felony murder. Brief of Appellant at 29-30. This Court has repeatedly held, however, that special verdicts are not required. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Haliburton v.</u> State, 561 So.2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, Appellant claims that the instruction on reasonable doubt constituted fundamental error.<sup>8</sup> Brief of Appellant at 31-33. This Court, and others, have previously held that the standard instruction adequately defines "reasonable doubt." <u>See, e.g., Brown v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 304 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 112 L.Ed.2d 547 (1990); <u>Woods v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 156, 158 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Thus, Appellant's argument must fail.

# B. Closing Argument

Without any factual basis or citation to the record, Appellant complains in two conclusory sentences that the trial court abused its discretion "in finding proper the state's jury argument that the theory of defense was a 'fantasy.'" Brief of Appellant at 33. Appellant is apparently referring to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appellant did not object to the instruction below, and thus must rely on the principle of fundamental error in seeking relief.

following comment made by the State during its guilt-phase closing argument:

Now, you know, Mr. Hitchcock says they. Who is they? Who's they? They want to do this and they want to do that. Now, in order to believe the theory or fantasy that Mr. Hitchcock told you about, about the Stans and this --

MR. HITCHCOCK: I would like to reserve a motion, Your Honor, please.

(T 1897). At the end of the State's closing argument, defense counsel makes the following motion:

I just would move for a mistrial, Your Honor, based on the comment by Mr. Satz during his closing argument characterizing the defense as fantasy. I think it's improper, it's precluded - those kind of comments are precluded in the case law, and the only remedy is a mistrial.

THE COURT: What says the State?

MR. SATZ: Your Honor, I didn't say the defense was a fantasy. I said that talking about fanciful doubt. I said Mr. Hitchcock's theory or fantasy -- In other words, what I was referring to was fanciful doubt, not the defense was fantasy.

THE COURT: I consider it a fair comment, perhaps invited by the closing argument by the defense.

At any rate, the motion for mistrial is denied.

(T 1915).

As is evident from the foregoing, Appellant failed to make a contemporaneous objection to the State's argument. Merely reserving an objection at the time the objectionable comment is made is not sufficient. <u>See Duest v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985) ("The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from

the court that the jury disregard the remarks."); Randolph v. State, 556 So.2d 808, 809 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) ("[A]t least an objection should be made to the remark at the time it occurs followed by a motion for mistrial no later than the end of the prosecutor's closing statement. Since no objection was made at the time of the offending comment, such silence is considered an Moreover, "both a motion to strike the implied waiver."). allegedly improper [comments] as well as a request for the trial court to instruct the jury to disregard the [comments] are thought to be necessary prerequisites to a motion for mistrial." Palmer v. State, 486 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Here, Appellant failed to satisfy his burden. Not only did Appellant fail to alert the trial court to the allegedly improper statement at the time it was made, but he also failed to seek a curative Thus, Appellant has failed to preserve this issue instruction. for appeal.

Even if his belated motion was sufficient, "a motion for a declaration of a mistrial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge," and "the power to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury should be exercised with great care and caution and should be done only in cases of absolute necessity." <u>Salvatore v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1978), <u>cert. denied</u>, 444 U.S. 885 (1979). As the trial court noted, the State's remark was a fair comment on the evidence as it related to the concept of reasonable doubt. Even if it were improper, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See State v. Murray</u>, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). In light of the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to

- 49 -

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